IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 87,777

ANTHONY BRYAN,

Appellant,

v.

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH, Attorney General,
State of Florida,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PAMELA H. IZAKOWITZ
Florida Bar No. 0053856
Assistant CCR

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL
COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE
Post Office Drawer 5498
Tallahassee, Florida 32314-5498
(904) 487-4376
Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is an action for disclosure of public records pursuant to Chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes.

Mr. Bryan mailed to the State on September 7, 1994, a formal request for the disclosure of public records, pursuant to Chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes, Article I, Section 24 of the Florida Constitution, and Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). The request was for any and all records in the State's custody, care and/or control relating to Anthony Bryan.

On September 22, 1994, this request was denied because the State claimed its entire file as exempt from public records. Mr. Bryan filed a Complaint for Disclosure of Public Records in the Circuit Court of Leon County with a request for in camera inspection of withheld public records on October 19, 1994.

After the civil suit was filed, Mr. Bryan was permitted to inspect the files of the State, but was denied access to some public records. The State provided a written list of exemptions asserting the following exemptions:

Inventory of Withheld Documents in Bryan case

The following is a list of items withheld from the Bryan files, a case in active litigation in the federal courts. The basis for withholding is the undersigned's belief that items (1) - (2) do not constitute "public records" under section 119.011, as construed by State v. Kokal, 562 So. 2d 324, 327 (Fla. 1990), as they simply contain the mental impressions of the authors. Likewise item (3) was only intended by its author to constitute a mental note to himself, similarly exempt under Section 119.011 and Kokal. Items (4) - (10), and to the extent necessary Items (1) - (3), are exempt under

section 119.07 (3)(n) (1994) and/or Section 119.07 (3)(1) 1995.

1. Two yellow pads and one white legal pad setting forth AAG's mental impressions and strategy (used in preparation for state evidentiary hearing/collateral appeals therefrom and pending federal habeas corpus action).
2. Four stapled yellow sheets, five stapled typed sheets and six loose typed sheets summarizing psychological reports etc., prepared by AG's paralegal for use by AAG.
3. Three copies of map, one with colored annotations, prepared by AAG handling direct appeal.
4. Copy of five page memorandum prepared by defense investigator, obtained from defense attorney files (potential exhibit at state evidentiary hearing; not offered into evidence).
5. Copy of deposition of James Duck, obtained from defense attorney files (potential exhibit at state evidentiary hearing; not offered into evidence).
6. Copy of eleven page statement of Scott and Jo Johns, obtained from defense attorney files (potential exhibit at state evidentiary hearing; not offered into evidence).
7. Copy of two page statement of Chris Golfers, obtained from defense attorney files (potential exhibit at state evidentiary hearing; not offered into evidence).
8. Copies of twenty-three pages (stapled) of notes by Bryan's former defense counsel, obtained from defense attorney files (potential exhibit at state evidentiary hearing; not offered into evidence).
9. Copies of two loose pages of notes by Bryan's former defense counsel, obtained from defense attorney files (potential exhibit at state evidentiary hearing; not offered into evidence).

10. Three page copy of letter from Bryan, obtained from defense attorney files (potential exhibit at state evidentiary hearing; not offered into evidence).

The withheld documents comprised 158 pages.

The State failed to fully and completely provide a proper inventory of withheld documents.¹ The State failed to fully describe each document or portion of a document it claimed as exempt. Additionally, the State failed to detail with particularity the agency's claim for withholding information or correlate each asserted exemption with the material for which the agency claimed the exemption applied. In addition to providing a vague and incomplete inventory, the State also withheld documents that were part of the record on appeal and court file or were obtained from Mr. Bryan's defense attorney file. It was Mr. Bryan's counsel who provided the State access to the defense attorney files.

The State withdrew items 4-10 from the inventory of withheld documents. On February 7, 1986, the State provided the court with the remainder of the inventory. The circuit court conducted an in camera inspection of the documents claimed to be exempt by the State. The court reviewed the withheld documents and ruled

¹ Pursuant to Chapter 119.07 (2)(a) Fla. Stat. (1995), "If the person who has custody of a public record contends that the record or part of it is exempt from inspection and examination, he or she shall state the basis of the exemption which he or she contends is applicable to the record, including the statutory citation to an exemption created or afforded by statute, and, if requested by the person seeking the right under this subsection to inspect, examine or copy the record, he or she shall state in writing and with particularity the reasons for his conclusion that the record is exempt." (emphasis added).

that none were subject to disclosure. The court ruled that the withheld documents were either work product, or not public records, under Chapter 119.07 (3)(1).

The Circuit Court was asked whether any documents could be subject to disclosure under Brady. The Circuit Court said since it did not review the files and records of Mr. Bryan, and did not preside over Mr. Bryan's trial, it "would be very hard-pressed to determine whether any of the withheld documents would be exculpatory and material as required by Brady." (R. 86). In a footnote, the court added: "Although Defendant has a continuing obligation to disclose Brady material, such claims must be brought in a court of competent jurisdiction." Id., n. 2. The court said it appeared that none of the withheld documents were Brady material.

Mr. Bryan filed a notice of appeal to the District Court of Appeal, First District of Florida, Case No. 96-00859. The State filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction or to Transfer to the Supreme Court. On April 18, 1996, the First District Court of Appeal denied the State's motion to dismiss, and transferred the case to the Florida Supreme Court. This appeal ensued.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erroneously held that items withheld by the State were not public records. Notes, preliminary drafts, working drafts, or any document prepared in connection with the official business of an agency that is to perpetuate, communicate

or formalize knowledge are subject to disclosure under Chapter 119. Notes that are intended as evidence of knowledge obtained in the transaction of agency business are public records. Further, the State failed to establish that the withheld materials are not public records.

The trial court erred in holding that it was unable to examine the withheld documents for Brady material, even though the court ruled that the State was obligated to disclose Brady material. The court's ruling leaves Mr. Bryan without a forum in which he can litigate the State's obligation under Brady.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT ALL OF THE WITHHELD DOCUMENTS WERE NOT SUBJECT TO DISCLOSURE.

A. THE STATE FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT THE WITHHELD DOCUMENTS WERE NOT PUBLIC RECORDS.

Public records are "any material prepared in connection with official agency business which is intended to perpetuate, communicate, or formalize knowledge of some type." In Shevin v. Byron, Harless, Schaffer, Reid & Associates, Inc., 379 So. 2d 633 (Fla. 1980), the Florida Supreme Court identified materials that are not public records:

To be contrasted with "public records" are materials prepared as drafts or notes, which constitute mere precursors of governmental "records" and are not, in themselves, intended as final evidence of the knowledge to be recorded. Matters which obviously would not be public records are rough drafts, notes to be used in preparing some other documentary material, and tapes or notes taken by a secretary as dictation. Inter-office memoranda and intra-office memoranda

communicating information from one public employee to another or merely prepared for filing, even though not a part of the agency's later, formal public product would nonetheless constitute public records inasmuch as they supply the final evidence of knowledge obtained in connection with the transaction of official business.

Id. All such materials, regardless of whether they are in final form, are open for public inspection unless specifically exempted by the Legislature. Wait v. Florida Power & Light Co., 372 So. 2d 420 (Fla. 1979). Notes, preliminary drafts, working drafts, or any document prepared in connection with the official business of an agency that is to perpetuate, communicate, or formalize knowledge regardless of whether it is in final form or the ultimate product of an agency, are subject to disclosure under Chapter 119. Shevin, 379 So. 2d 633; Times Publishing Co. v. City of St. Petersburg, 558 So. 2d 487 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990); Hillsborough Co. Aviation Authority v. Azzarelli Construction Co., 436 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); State ex rel. Veale v. City of Boca Raton, 353 So. 2d 1194 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977, cert. denied, 360 So. 2d 1247 (Fla. 1978); Warden v. Bennett, 340 So. 2d 977 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976); and Copeland v. Cartwright, 38 Fla. Supp. 6 (Fla. 17th Cir. Ct. 1972), affirmed, 282 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973); Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 85-79 (1985).

That a document is considered a personal note or is handwritten is immaterial. Notes that are prepared for filing or are intended as evidence of knowledge obtained in the transaction of agency business are public records. Handwritten notes of agency staff used to communicate and formulate knowledge within

the agency are public records and subject to no exemption, Florida Sugar Cane League v. Florida Department of Environmental Regulation, No. 91-4218 (Fla. 2d Cir. Ct. June 5, 1992).

In this case, the State exempted various pages "summarizing psychological reports, etc., prepared by AG's paralegal for use by AAG." (R. 90). However, "interoffice and intra-office memoranda may constitute public records even though encompassing trial preparation materials." Coleman v. Austin, 521 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). See Orange County v. Florida Land Co., 450 So. 2d 341 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), review denied, 458 So. 2d 273 (Fla. 1984); Hillsborough Co. Aviation Authority v. Azzarelli Construction Co., 436 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983).

Furthermore, in State ex rel. Veale v. City of Boca Raton, 353 So. 2d 1194 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977, cert. denied, 360 So. 2d 1247 (Fla. 1978), a report prepared by an assistant city attorney at the direction of the city council, and which concerned suspected irregularities in the city's building department, was not confidential and subject to public record disclosure. Thus, there is no reason why a paralegal's summary of psychological reports for use by an assistant attorney general should be considered exempt in this case. The decisive factor is whether the document was intended to perpetuate, communicate or formalize knowledge of some type. Shevin.

Kokal v. State, 562 So. 2d 324 (Fla. 1990), addressed the distinction between records that are public and records that are not. The documents at issue in Kokal were a list of items of

evidence that may be needed for trial, a list of questions the attorney planned to ask a witness, a proposed trial outline, handwritten notes regarding a meeting with the other party's attorneys, and notes "in rough form" regarding the deposition of an anticipated witness. The Court held:

These documents are merely notes from the attorneys to themselves designed for their own personal use in remembering certain things. They seem to be simply preliminary guides intended to aid the attorneys when they later formalized the knowledge. We cannot imagine that the Legislature, in enacting the Public Records Act, intended to include within the term "public records" this type of material.

Kokal, 562 So. 2d at 327 (emphasis in original). In Mr. Bryan's case, the State improperly asserted that items (1), (2) and (3) were non-public records. The State provided these records to the court for an in camera inspection. After such inspection, the court concluded the records were non-public records. The court's conclusion was erroneous. Kokal; Tribune Company v. Public Records, 493 So. 2d 480, review denied, 503 So. 2d 327 (Fla. 1987). The records at issue are public records.

These items all contain "notes," mostly handwritten. The essential requirements of Chapter 119 apply, nonetheless. If the State's "note to himself," summaries of psychological reports or maps with "colored annotations" are intended as "final evidence of the knowledge to be recorded," Kokal, at 327, then the notes are public records. If the records "supply the final evidence of knowledge obtained in connection with the transaction of official business," id., then the notes are public records. A record

"used in preparation for state evidentiary hearing/collateral appeals" is nonetheless a public record because it "suppl[ies] the final evidence of knowledge obtained in connection with the transaction of official business." Orange County v. Florida Land Co., 450 So. 2d 341, 343 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) (citing Shevin). The notes at issue here may fall into this category; even if never circulated as inter-office memoranda, the notes at issue were made part of the State's file on Mr. Bryan's case. Further, the inclusion of these notes into the State's files evinces the intent of the attorney preparing them to perpetuate their existence.

If the notes are "mere precursors of governmental records" and are not, in themselves, intended as final evidence of the knowledge to be recorded," or "rough drafts," or "notes to be used in preparing some other documentary material," then the notes are not public records. Shevin; Kokal. However, the determination of whether a record is a public record is a factual determination that can be made only when the party claiming the exemption provides the court with the document claimed to be merely preliminary, and thus not a public record, and the document supplying the final evidence of the knowledge contained in the notes or draft, thus a public record. Only by comparing the draft/notes with the final version can the court make the determination that the draft or notes are not public records.

In this case, the State did not provide the Court with the final version of these notes in order to make the comparison and

determine whether the notes were indeed simply "preliminary guides intended to aid the attorneys when they later formalized the knowledge." Shevin; Kokal. Without such final document(s) or at least testimony regarding such document(s), the court is, by definition, unable to make the determination of whether the notes are public records.

If the pages of notes were never formalized into a final version, then the notes themselves are "the final evidence of knowledge obtained in connection with the transaction of official business." Shevin at 640; Kokal at 327. A party's handwritten notes made during or shortly after interviews were not public records because the party later formalized the knowledge gained during the interview. Shevin at 641. Here, if the State never formalized the notes into a final form, the notes themselves are the final form, and are public records. If the notes were formalized into some final document, the State must provide that document to the court so that it may conduct an adequate in camera inspection to determine whether the notes claimed exempt are public records.

Further, this Court should reject any contention by the State that the pleadings and evidence it presented in court constitutes the formal agency statement on the subject matter and all else is merely preliminary or preparatory and, therefore, not a public record. Hillsborough Co. Aviation Authority v. Azzarelli Construction Company, 436 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); See also Bay County School Board v. Public Employees Relations Commission,

382 So. 2d 747 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980) (concluding that school board budget work sheets were materials prepared in connection with official agency business and tended to perpetuate, communicate, or formalize knowledge of some type and thus were public records); Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 85-79 (1985) (concluding that interoffice memorandum, correspondence, inspection reports, and other documents maintained by county public health units are public records).

To determine whether the notes are public records, the court must be provided with both the notes and the final document that formalized the knowledge contained in the notes. The court then has a two-step analysis to conduct: is the record a public record, and if so, is it part of the State's current file relating to any pending motion for post-conviction relief? This determination may be made after an evidentiary hearing. Walton v. Dugger, 634 So. 2d at 1059. If the State provides both the draft and final form of the record, and testimony is not needed to establish that a document was later formalized, then the Court may conduct an in camera inspection of both documents to determine whether the draft or notes are public records. Kokal, 562 So. 2d at 327; Mendyk v. State, 592 So. 2d 1976, 1081 (Fla. 1992); Walton, 634 So. 2d at 1062; Shevin, 379 So. 2d at 640-41; Fritz v. Norflor Construction Co., 386 So. 2d 899, 901 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); Times Publishing Co. v. City of St. Petersburg, 558 So. 2d 487, 491 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990); Tribune Company, 493 So. 2d at 484. Likewise, if the State claims a document is work product

relating to current post-conviction litigation and not the trial and appeal, the State must provide that record for an in camera inspection. Walton, 634 So. 2d at 1062; Lopez v. Singletary, 634 So. 2d 1054, 1057-58 (Fla. 1993); Tribune Company, 493 So. 2d at 484. If the record is a public record, and does not relate to a current motion for post-conviction relief, the record must be disclosed.

The burden of establishing a right to withhold a record falls on the agency. Florida Freedom Newspapers, Inc. v. Dempsey, 478 So. 2d 1128, 1130 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). At this time, the State has failed to prove the existence of a work product exemption or that the withheld materials are non-public records. Simply stated, the record in this case is completely devoid of the factual predicates that would permit this Court or the trial court to withhold these materials as non-public records.

A person who has custody of a public record and who asserts an exemption or a special law applies to a particular public record, then that person "shall delete or excise from the record only that portion of the record with respect to which an exemption has been asserted and validly applies, and such person shall produce the remainder of such record for inspection and examination." Section 119.07(2)(a), Fla. Stat. The State failed to segregate what is exempt and what is not. The Circuit Court also failed to segregate what it considered mental impressions and work product from the materials submitted by the State.

Therefore, this Court should vacate the trial court's Final Order and order the immediate release of withheld documents because the documents are public record. Kokal; Walton. Alternatively, this Court should remand this case for an evidentiary hearing in this matter to allow Mr. Bryan an opportunity to investigate the factual predicates necessary to support the exemptions claimed by the State.

B. THE LOWER COURT'S INABILITY TO EXAMINE THE WITHHELD DOCUMENTS FOR BRADY MATERIAL LEAVES MR. BRYAN WITHOUT A FORUM WHICH WILL CONDUCT SUCH AN EXAMINATION.

Mr. Bryan properly filed a civil Complaint for Disclosure of Public Records against the State in the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Leon County. The Leon County Circuit Court had full jurisdiction to consider Mr. Bryan's claim for disclosure.

This Court has held:

We agree that with respect to agencies outside the judicial circuit in which the case was tried and those within the circuit which have no connection with the state attorney, requests for public records should be pursued under the procedure outlined in chapter 119, Florida Statutes.

Hoffman v. State, 613 So. 2d 405, 406 (Fla. 1992). Jurisdiction was proper in Leon County, where the Office of the Attorney General was found. This Court's ruling in Hoffman was a determination that full jurisdiction to decide Mr. Bryan's civil case against the State, brought under Chapter 119, rested with the Leon County Circuit Court.

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