JUL* 3 1996

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CLERK CLERK COURT

By Cleaf Doslay Glerk

ANTHONY B. BRYAN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 87,777

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH,

Appellee.

On Direct Appeal from the Second Judicial Circuit In and For Leon County, Florida

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General

CHARLIE MCCOY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 333646

Office of the Attorney General The Capitol--PL-01 Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (904) 488-9935

Counsel for Appellee

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

Section 17. The Legislature finds that it is a public necessity to exempt certain attorney records as described in s. 119.07(3)(1)1., Florida Statutes, in order to ensure that the work product developed by the attorneys of the Attorney General's office during direct appeal remains confidential through the postconviction proceedings. The premature disclosure of this information could be detrimental to the Attorney General's legal representation in these proceedings if the material were disclosed prior to final disposition of the postconviction proceedings. Such a result could interfere with the effective and efficient administration of government by attorneys for direct appeal when such materials reflect the attorney's mental impression, conclusion, litigation strategy, or legal theory. Thus, the Legislature determines that the public harm in

disclosing this work product significantly outweighs any public benefit derived from disclosure. Furthermore, a capital defendant's ability to secure other public records is not diminished by nondisclosure of these attorney work products.

Ch. 95-398, Laws of Fla. at §17 (not codified).

Section 17 immediately follows the operative language amending the attorney work product exemption, and clearly explains Legislative intent. That intent was to overrule all prior case law--as applied to the Attorney General's death case files--which would require disclosure of direct appeal attorney work product simply because the direct appeal was over. The 1995 amendment applies regardless of whether the work product is a preliminary or final version. Whether a particular document has the effect of perpetuating "knowledge" is irrelevant.

Moreover, the 1995 amendment is remedial and apples to public record requests made before its effective date. Roberts v. Butterworth, 668 So.2d at 581-2 & n. 5 (quoting §17 of ch. 95-398 as legislative history indicating statute's remedial nature). The fact that the statute applies retroactively, plus its narrow and specific mention of the Attorney General's office, strengthens the conclusion that work product such as the disputed documents is to be protected from disclosure regardless of whether the documents perpetuate knowledge and thus are "final" versions.

Section 119.07(3)(1) also exempts postconviction work product as long as a case is active. This Court has so held. *See Kokal*, 562 So.2d at 327 ("Of course, the state attorney was not required to disclose his current file relating to the motion for postconviction relief because there is ongoing litigation with respect to those documents."). Whether a particular work product perpetuates knowledge, or is a final version of something, is irrelevant; so long as it is part of an active file.

One fine point remains. In item (1) of the inventory, Appellee claimed certain documents were exempt as they were used in "preparation for state evidentiary hearing/collateral appeals therefrom and pending federal habeas corpus action." (R 90) Although legislative intent, as expressed in §17 of ch. 95-398, speaks in terms of "postconviction" proceedings, the operative statutory language (§16 of same act) clearly declares that the Attorney General may claim "this exemption ... until execution of sentence or imposition of a life sentence." The Legislature certainly knew that no death sentence is carried out before federal habeas proceedings are exhausted. Therefore, the Legislature unavoidably authorized the Attorney General to claim the work product exemption throughout federal habeas proceedings as well.

Bryan's argument rests on case law that predates the 1995 amendment and this Court's decision in Roberts v. Butterworth. Even if the disputed documents were

public records, they are exempt under §119.07(3)(1) as it existed upon amendment in 1995.

Bryan concludes his first issue with two narrower points. He urges that Appellee should have provided not only the "preliminary" document but also the "final version" for comparison. He then proposes a "two-step analysis." (IB, p. 9-11) He concludes that if a disputed record is public and "does not relate to a current motion for post-conviction relief, the record must be disclosed." (IB, p. 12)

This "preliminary versus final" argument is twice flawed. First, it is not preserved. It was not raised in any of the written pleadings below. Also, Bryan has not brought forward a transcript of the final hearing, during which the trial court conducted an *in camera* inspection of the withheld documents. Therefore, Bryan cannot show he timely and specifically raised this point before the trial court. Roberts v. Butterworth, 668 So. 2d at 582 (argument that confidentiality of clemency materials was waived through their release by Governor's Office not preserved when argument not made below), *quoting* Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla.1982) ("[I]n order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below."). See, Crusaw v. Crusaw, 637 So.2d 949, 950 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) (appellate court must assume lower court correctly decided the factual issues when record on

Applegate v. Barnett Bank of Tallahassee, 377 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 1979). See also Applegate, at 1152 (when appellant failed to bring forward a record of trial court proceedings, the "trial court should have been affirmed because the record brought forward by the appellant is inadequate to demonstrate reversible error").

Second, and if preserved, Bryan's point is meritless. The 1995 amendment to the attorney work product exemption expressly allows the Attorney General's office to keep documents—assuming they are public records—from *direct* appeal confidential until a death sentence is imposed or reduced to life. There is no requirement that the documents pertain to a current motion for postconviction relief, or that the documents be a preliminary version. Also, in many cases, an attorney's personal notes will never be compiled into a "final version," such as when the notes are an outline for a hearing. There would be no final version for comparison.

All work product within an active postconviction file is exempt, regardless of whether it is a preliminary or final version. Also, the fact that a postconviction file is active is sufficient to keep work product confidential. <u>Kokal</u>. There is no requirement that the confidential material relate to a current--as opposed to a previously denied--motion for postconviction relief.

Finally, it would be absurd to conclude that material relating to an inmate's past efforts at postconviction relief would be subject to disclosure, when older material from direct appeal would not be. Bryan advances a narrow reading of the attorney work product exemption, which would defeat the public policy underlying the 1995 amendment.

Bryan's next point contends the "State failed to segregate what is exempt and what is not." (IB, p. 12) This point is not preserved, for the reasons noted above. Moreover, Appellee claimed all portions of the withheld documents were exempt. Simple inspection of those documents reveals that any non-exempt portions were *de minimis*, and that they would be meaningless if segregated from the exempt portions. Finally, Appellee assumes Bryan is *not* contending he was entitled to a redacted copy of the "common highway map" (R 88) which comprised the base for the withheld documents in item (3) of the inventory. The law is not concerned with trifles.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT, BY EXAMINING THE WITHHELD DOCUMENTS FOR EXCULPATORY MATTER, PROPERLY RESPONDED TO APPELLANT'S NON-SPECIFIC REFERENCE TO BRADY v. MARYLAND

Below, Bryan's reliance on <u>Brady v. Maryland</u> was never more than a simple citation to that decision. He never alleged that specific exculpatory material existed, much less that such material was being withheld. At most, his complaint "raised only a general request for exculpatory material under *Brady*." <u>Roberts v. Butterworth</u>, 668 So.2d 580, 582 (Fla. 1996). Therefore, Appellee's decision not to release any documents as <u>Brady</u> material was final. *Id*.

Since his <u>Brady</u> claim was never more than a lone citation, Bryan's complaint cannot be construed as an alleging that Appellee was withholding exculpatory material which constituted newly discovered evidence, regardless of when the material was originally obtained by the State. Therefore, the trial court was never placed on notice as to any specific <u>Brady</u> claim. Bryan's citation to that case in his public records request (R 7) and in his complaint (R 2) were no more than reminders of the Attorney General's continuing obligation to disclose <u>Brady</u> material.

Restated, Bryan's complaint never alleged facts which, taken as true, would establish a cause of action for relief under <u>Brady</u>. Even if the trial court had

jurisdiction to grant such relief, it could not have done so based on Bryan's insufficient allegations. *See* Roberts v. Butterworth, 688 So.2d at 582 (upholding dismissal of Brady claims as to "handwritten notes," when the complaint raised only a "general request for exculpatory material").

Even more telling is the fact that Bryan did not raise <u>Brady</u> on direct appeal or in postconviction proceedings.⁵ Absent allegations of newly discovered evidence, any <u>Brady</u> claim--regardless of forum--would be procedurally barred. *See e.g.*, <u>Atkins v. State</u>, 663 So.2d 624, 625-6 (Fla. 1995) (<u>Brady</u> claim that photographs of murder victim should have been disclosed procedurally barred through failure to raise issue in prior collateral proceedings).

Given Bryan's failure to allege newly discovered evidence, one of the trial court's observations looms large:

Second, it appears that none of the withheld documents are Brady material. The withheld documents all appear to be "work product" prepared from pre-existing papers such as transcripts of proceedings or depositions. *The pre-existing papers would have already been available to Bryan.* [e.s.]

(R 86-7) Although Bryan later urges the lower court had "full" jurisdiction over Brady claims (IB, p. 14), he never disputes the court's conclusion that the "pre-

⁵See <u>Bryan v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1988) (<u>Brady</u> claim not raised on direct appeal); and <u>Bryan v. Dugger</u>, 641 So.2d 61, 62-3 & n. 2 (Fla. 1994) (listing 12 issues raised on appeal from denial of postconviction relief, none of which mention <u>Brady</u>).

existing papers would have already been available." Therefore, even if the withheld documents were indeed <u>Brady</u> material, they would have been derived from pre-existing papers already disclosed. Bryan would not be entitled to relief based on the State's failure to disclose exculpatory documents derived from primary sources already in his possession. *See* <u>Atkins</u>, 663 So.2d at 626 (denying <u>Brady</u> claim in part because disputed photographs were provided to trial counsel at "proper times").

Bryan has never described the nature of so-called <u>Brady</u> material he speculates is among the withheld documents. His argument is grounded on conjecture, which is not a proper basis for relief on appeal. <u>Ford v. Wainwright</u>, 451 So.2d 471, 474 (Fla. 1984). It is also an attempt to circumvent a procedural bar through a ch. 119 action brought later.

In §4 of ch. 96-290, Laws of Fla. [effective May 30, 1996], the 1996 Legislature clarified §119.07(9), Fla. Stat., by declaring:

[t]his section may not be used by any inmate as the basis for failing to timely litigate any postconviction action.

By raising <u>Brady</u> through a very belated public records request, Bryan directly contravenes §119.07(9).

Not speaking with clarity, Bryan urges that the "Leon County Circuit Court had full jurisdiction to consider Mr. Bryan's claim for disclosure." [e.s.] (IB, p. 13) He contends the trial court should have considered his vague Brady reference as a claim for release of exculpatory material and appropriate relief. Appellee has already noted the total insufficiency of Bryan's allegations in this regard.

Nothing in ch. 119 or <u>Hoffman</u> posits venue--much less jurisdiction--in the Second Judicial Circuit to grant relief upon <u>Brady</u> claims by an inmate tried elsewhere. *See* <u>Asay v. Florida Parole Commission</u>, 649 So.2d 859 (Fla. 1994):

By its own terms, *Hoffman* only addressed chapter 119 issues and did not establish venue in the Second Judicial Circuit for a *Brady* records request made to the Clemency Board.

Id. at 861 (Kogan, J., concurring).

Here, Bryan's complaint merely cited to <u>Brady</u>. It never alleged a claim under that decision. In reality, this case has always been limited to a ch. 119 dispute, despite Bryan's attempts to piggyback a <u>Brady</u> claim. Nevertheless, just as <u>Hoffman</u> did not establish venue in the Second Judicial Circuit for a <u>Brady</u> claim against the Clemency Board (of which Appellee is a member), it did not establish venue for a <u>Brady</u> claim against the Department of Legal Affairs or the Attorney General's Office.

Here, the trial court ruled on jurisdictional grounds. Given that <u>Brady</u> claims must be based on exculpatory material, and that such material would go the propriety

of a murder trial or death sentence; such claims must be brought through postconviction motions. These motions are cognizable only in the court where an inmate was tried. Rules 3.850 and 3.851. *See* Asay, 613 So.2d at 861 (Kogan, J., concurring):

Brady claims usually are brought via Rule 3.850 in the sentencing court. I believe sound policy dictates the same conclusion for Brady records requests, should they be allowed in the future. Any Brady issue essentially is a species of collateral challenge. Here, the act of requesting Brady materials is only a prelude to a possible Brady hearing, which unquestionably would be heard in the sentencing court. I see no reason why the same court should not resolve all issues. Accordingly, the proper venue for such a claim is in the court that sentenced the inmate, pursuant to Rule 3.850, with appeals in death cases then going to this Court.

If there is any problem with the order below, it is one of rationale, not results. The trial court spoke in terms of "competent jurisdiction." It could have reached the same result had it spoken in terms of "proper venue." Bryan's choice of venue was improper for a <u>Brady claim</u>. The trial court's refusal to consider the claim must be affirmed. <u>Vandergriff v. Vandergriff</u>, 456 So.2d 464, 466 (Fla. 1984) ("trial court decisions are presumptively valid and should be affirmed, if correct, regardless of whether the reasons advanced are erroneous".).

Despite its lack of familiarity with the case files and the vagueness of Bryan's bare citation to <u>Brady</u>, the trial court properly recognized Appellee's continuing duty

to disclose <u>Brady</u> material. (R 86, n. 2) <u>Roberts v. Butterworth</u>, 668 So. 2d at 582. Had the trial court here found exculpatory documents, it certainly would have had authority to notify Bryan. Armed with such notification, Bryan would be able to seek relief in the court where he was tried..

The trial court quite reasonably acknowledged the practical difficulties it faced. (R 86) Notably, even Bryan does not suggest how a Leon County judge would be able to tell if a particular document was material and not previously disclosed. It would be totally absurd to require the court below, while resolving a public records dispute, to become familiar with a death case record when the Santa Rosa County circuit court had already done so. *See* Asay, 613 So.2d at 861 (addressing policy concerns for not allowing all inmate Brady claims to be brought in the Second Judicial Circuit) (Kogan, J., concurring).

The lower court's concern is echoed by this Court's proposed rule 3.852, which would require *all* pending and future public records complaints by death-sentenced inmates to be brought in the court where the inmate was tried. *See* proposed Rule 3.852(c) and (f), 21 Fla.L.W. at S 187-8. Moreover, Bryan--by electing to proceed in the Leon County circuit court--accepted the obvious fact that no judge would have the same familiarity with the case as the judge where he was tried.

As he did in Issue I, Bryan concludes Issue II by raising two unpreserved points. He argues, for the first time, that the lower court's <u>Brady</u> ruling deprived him of access to courts. (IB, p. 16-17) He then claims the same ruling deprived him of effective assistance of postconviction counsel. (IB, p.17) These two points are not preserved, due to Bryan's failure to raise them below and his failure to bring forward a transcript of the final hearing. <u>Roberts v. Butterworth</u>, <u>Steinhorst</u>, <u>Applegate</u>; *supra*.

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